**RECEIVED**

**May 19 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CRAIG LAMAR EDWARDS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000821

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JORDAN WAYBURN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by allowing the solicitor to elicit testimony Appellant previously sold crack cocaine years previously where there was no connection between the prior drug dealing and alleged crimes?
2. Was a law enforcement officer's testimony that a gun was reported stolen based on the NCIC database inadmissible hearsay?
3. Did the trial court impermissibly comment on the facts by instructing the jury that "[a]n attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle . . . when signaled by a siren or flashing light may be considered by you as evidence of failure to stop for a blue light"?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Craig Edwards was indicted by the Richland County grand jury in September 2020 on the following charges: the murder of Michael Booker, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, second offense failure to stop for a blue light, possession of a stolen pistol, and kidnapping Carlo Yarborough. Tr. 18:18-25; R. p. \*. He went to trial before Judge Robert Hood and a jury from April 8–12, 2024. Tr. 1. He was represented by Alicia Goode, Nathaniel Brady, and McKenzie Thomas. Tr. 1. Christopher Dale Scott and Nichols Fowler prosecuted the case for the state. Tr. 1.

At the close of the state's case, the trial court entered a directed verdict on behalf of Edwards on the stolen pistol charge. Tr. 416:1-8. The jury found Edwards guilty of voluntary manslaughter, possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence, and failing to stop for a blue light. Tr. 772:15-773:3. It acquitted him of murder and kidnapping Yarborough. Tr. 772:12-20. The trial court sentenced him to thirty years in prison for manslaughter and five years each for the weapon and failure to stop charges, all to run consecutively. Tr. 792:8-15.

Following sentencing, Edwards filed a Motion for a New Trial and Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence. R. p. \*. The trial court denied the motion by written order dated May 8, 2024. R. p. \*.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Monday, February 3, 2020, Appellant Craig Edwards went with his girlfriend, Carlo Yarborough, to the Pull-A-Part off Monticello Road in Columbia. Tr. 145:1-14. Edwards is a car mechanic, and they were meeting Michael Booker and Chris Martin at the Pull-A-Part. Tr. 144:1-145:17. Martin bought and sold used cars, and he would pay Edwards and Booker to help fix them up. Tr. 234:18-235:7. They met to buy a car part for a repair they were going to work on that day. Tr. 226:11:21. Booker and Edwards were friends. Tr. 473:6-13.

Yarborough testified she drove to the Pull-A-Part and Edwards was inside with Martin and Booker between thirty and forty-five minutes. Tr. 144:20-25, 145:18-146:3. When Edwards returned to the car, Yarborough saw "he was upset" because "him and [Booker] exchanged some words while they were on the inside." Tr. 146:19-24. She then drove him to Martin's house on Rose Drive. Tr. 147:5-13. When they arrived, she did not see anyone. Tr. 147:17-23. Martin had driven Booker to Rose Drive but then left to buy beer at the store. Tr. 227:14-25.

Edwards exited the car and went to the trunk as he "yelled for" Booker to help with the tools. Tr. 150:8-21, 176:20-23. Booker then came around the house from the backyard, and Yarborough heard him say, "[Edwards], go ahead. I got something. You know, I ain't got time for this." Tr. 151:1-10. She also heard him saying, "[Edwards], don't start that shit today." 179:2-4. She continued: "I just saw Mike [Booker] walking out [of the backyard]. When I looked up, Mike's hand was up in the air, and then I just hear the shots ring out, and I saw him fall to the ground." Tr. 153:1-3, 178:21-23. Booker was "within about three feet" of Edwards and yelling at him, holding a table leg in his hand.<sup>1</sup> Tr. 188:1-16. Yarborough did not see

---

<sup>1</sup> Apparently, the men used the table leg to prop up car hoods if the vehicle did not have the original attached support bars. Tr. 224:9-23, 233:1-22.

Edwards point the gun at Booker; she only heard the shots. Tr. 154:5-10. She testified she saw a gun in Edwards's waistband as he exited the car, which was unusual for him. Tr. 154:11-155:4.

Edwards testified in his defense. As Yarborough explained, on the morning of February 3, Edwards met Booker and Martin at the Pull-A-Part on Monticello Road. Tr. 489:5-491:9. He had been working with Martin for the past six months. Tr. 482:3-13. While there he saw Booker speaking with a man named "Byron"—no last name was given—whom he knew sold Booker various drugs in the past. Tr. 491:21-492:12, 546:20-547:3. Edwards had previously seen Booker smoke crack on several occasions, and he wanted his friend to quit using drugs. Tr. 477:4-478:5. At the Pull-A-Part, Edwards "voiced [his] opinion" that Booker should not be using crack or buying drugs. Tr. 492:14-16. Booker responded aggressively and told him to "mind your business." Tr. 546:13-547:25.

After they bought the part they needed, Booker and Martin left together for Rose Drive, and Edwards left with Yarborough. Tr. 493:5-16, 495:4-24. Yarborough drove, and when they arrived, Edwards called out for Booker to find out what tools they would need for their work that day. Tr. 496:16-497:10. Booker did not respond at first, but then Edwards heard, "what the hell, don't bring that shit down here." Tr. 499:13-22. Edwards was standing at the rear of the car looking in the trunk for tools when he saw Booker coming around the house from the backyard. Tr. 500:1-20. The night before, Booker had left his tool bags in Yarborough's car. Tr. 487:1-15. While looking through the tool bags, Edwards saw a gun in the trunk he had never seen before. Tr. 500:19-501:4. Based on the fact Booker's DNA was found on the gun—and specifically the trigger—it was apparently Booker's gun. Tr. 343:4-21.

As Edwards stood at the back of the car, Booker continued approaching:

I looked over my shoulder and I seen him coming down, and he said I told you don't bring that fucking shit down here. And I was,

like, what are you talking about? And I turned back and I was still looking at this gun, and I'm, like, what the fuck? And excuse my language. And he's still coming and he's coming, so I'm looking --

Q: The -- well, let me ask is -- is he walking fast?

A: He's walking fast. He's walking. Well, he's not running, but he's walking kind of fast. He was walking fast towards me. I can't see really him [sic] because of the car is in the middle of me and him.

So I don't really see what's going on, but when he came from behind the green Honda, he raised his hand up. He said I told you not to bring this shit. And when I looked, I didn't know what it was. He raised his hand up like this, and I seen something in his hand.

Q: And you --

A: I panicked.

Tr. 501:6-23. Edwards did not say anything else to Booker, he was just scared and panicked because Booker was being very aggressive. Tr. 501:24-502:8. In all the time he had known Booker, they had not been violent with each other, so this surprised him. Tr. 502:4-15. Booker had, however, recently been aggressive with other people over money. Tr. 502:16-25. Edwards testified, "I'm confused because I never did nothing to him. Me and him didn't -- hadn't even had an argument or -- or a debate about really too much of anything for [Booker] to come this way I never seen towards me before." Tr. 503:9-12. So, when Booker raised his arm up with something in his hand, Edwards grabbed the gun out of the trunk. Tr. 503:13-15. Edwards could not tell what Booker was holding, but he thought it "was an old shotgun or something."<sup>2</sup> Tr. 503:16-20, 578:1-9. Then Edwards shot Booker. Tr. 504:10-505:2. He did not know how many times he fired or where on booker's body he shot first—"It happened too fast." Tr. 505:3-7. He fired until the magazine ran out. Tr. 505:9-21. Edwards testified he still does not understand

---

<sup>2</sup> Edwards needs glasses but did not have them at the time. Tr. 523:16-25.

what happened or why Booker was so aggressive. Tr. 508:14-509:7. However, he was clear he felt like Booker was going to kill him. Tr. 509:8-12. Edwards also described an event a couple weeks before where he was called to a customer's house where Booker was violently arguing and "swinging" at another person while carrying a gun. Tr. 478:17-479:18.

Edwards recognized that after he shot he "wasn't even thinking straight." Tr. 505:22-25. He attempted to start Yarborough's car but it did not work, and then he pulled Yarborough across the street to an SUV they were working on because he thought the keys were left in it. Tr. 507:6-18. He put Yarborough in the back seat (the alleged kidnapping), but then the driver's door was locked. Tr. 507:12-19. He was panicked, confused, and trying to leave. Tr. 508:11-22. This behavior was the result of sheer panic because he wanted to leave and he wanted her to come with him. Tr. 509:13-510:3. When Edwards noticed a green Honda in the front yard was running, he took the car and left to go home. Tr. 511:3-512:6.

When the shooting occurred Martin's neighbor, John Wannamaker, called 911. Tr. 217:21-218:19. Columbia police officer Kevin Davis testified he was on patrol when he received an alert to look out for a green Honda. Tr. 271:8-272:7. He saw such a car and began following it. Tr. 272:22-273:10. When other officers began to follow as well, he turned on his blue lights and Edwards accelerated. Tr. 276:2-13. Edwards admitted he did not stop for the blue lights because he knew he had the gun next to him and he did not know how it would look. Tr. 514:15-22. Davis followed Edwards on a high-speed chase for less than five minutes, all of which was captured on his dashcam, which was and introduced at trial as State's Exhibit 48 and is on file with this Court.<sup>3</sup> Tr. 279:2-15. It was published for the jury. Tr. 279:16-282:14.

---

<sup>3</sup> Davis also had a bodycam active at the time, and that recording was introduced as State's Exhibit 49, which is also on file with this Court. Tr. 282:21-283:24. Court's Exhibit 8 is Officer Niscia's bodycam, and it is on file with this Court. Tr. 89:11-15.

During the chase, Davis saw Edwards make a "throwing-like motion" out the window. Tr. 277:13-19. Edwards then slowed down and came to a stop on Northwood Street. Tr. 277:16-19. Edwards exited the car and followed the officers' orders to lay on the ground. Tr. 296:14-297:13, 516:1-8; State's Ex. 48, 49. He was immediately arrested. Tr. 281:1-2.

The throwing motion was when Edwards threw the gun out of the vehicle because he thought it would be better to surrender without a weapon. Tr. 515:10-24. Davis and other officers later searched the area and recovered it from a bush. Tr. 288:12-289:11, 302:13-303:12. Both Edwards's and Booker's DNA were found on the trigger of the gun. Tr. 343:4-21. Firearms expert SLED Agent Paul Greer testified the casings found at Rose Drive were all fired by the gun found in the bush. Tr. 354:9-12, 355:22-25, 360:17-25. He testified cartridges eject from firearms in no particular direction. Tr. 364:17-365:17.

After putting him in handcuffs, the officers tried to pull Edwards up off the ground. State's Ex. 49; Court's Ex. 8. This appears to hurt Edwards, and so he starts yelling, asking for the officers to wait a moment. Court's Ex. 8, at 1:00. In his attempt to convince them to wait, he says, "I was in the hospital last night. I was on a drug called PCP." Court's Ex. 8, at 1:15. Davis testified Edwards said this, although the jury did not itself hear the recording. Tr. 284:9-16. At trial Edwards admitted to yelling out he had been in the hospital all night and was on PCP the night before. Tr. 516:9-13. Edwards testified he had not actually used PCP but just started yelling out of panic because he "still wasn't thinking straight" at the time. Tr. 516:14-517:5, 548:7-19.

Forensic pathologist Darren Monroe performed an autopsy on Booker. Tr. 373:23-25. He testified Booker was five foot, ten inches tall and weighed 155 pounds. Tr. 375:2-5. Monroe was generally unable to determine the paths the bullets took through the body. Tr. 381:11-18.

He recovered seven projectiles from the body. Tr. 387:18-18-22. In Monroe's opinion, all of the gunshots occurred while Booker was alive. Tr. 3976:17-21. Monroe agreed an entry wound to Booker's inside arm could indicate he had his arm raised toward the gun. Tr. 401:18-402:8. Based on a toxicology report, Booker had cocaine and a "cocaine metabolite" in his blood at the time of his death. Tr. 393:22-394:4. According to Monroe the presence of actual cocaine, as opposed to solely metabolites, indicated Booker was still under the effects of the drug when he was alive. Tr. 402:15-403:1.

Jonathan Haynes testified on Edwards's behalf. Tr. 438:10. Edwards is "like a son" to him, and he also knew Booker prior to the events. Tr. 438:14-439:6. He testified Booker lived in a house in his backyard for several months in 2019. Tr. 439:2-9. Edwards lived with Haynes at the time in the "front house." Tr. 450:6-451:11. Haynes testified that on one occasion three months prior to the events, Booker started "approaching me like he was coming to fight," after Haynes tried to enforce his expectations for Booker living there. Tr. 440:14-441:6. Booker was "walking up with . . . his fists balled up." Tr. 446:8-10. Haynes told Edwards about the events, and then they forced Booker to leave. Tr. 441:17-25. Edwards had the conversation to force Booker to leave. Tr. 442:1-12. Haynes also testified Booker "smoked crack, and he drank a lot." Tr. 442:13-17. The drinking "would make him angrier . . . like he was going to jump me." Tr. 4421:21-25.

At the start of the state's cross-examination of Edwards, the solicitor accused him of smoking crack cocaine with Booker. Tr. 524:14-25. Edwards denied ever smoking crack, to which the solicitor asked about his "involvement" with the drug. Tr. 525:1-10. Edwards admitted to previously selling crack and again denied ever smoking it. Tr. 525:11-12. The solicitor again started to ask about selling crack, and Edwards objected under Rule 404, SCRE.

Tr. 525:13-20. The trial court overruled the objection without explanation. Tr. 525:21. The solicitor then extensively questioned Edwards about his history of selling crack and his efforts to help Booker quit smoking. Tr. 525:23-527:12. He repeatedly accused Edwards of smoking crack and forced him to admit to selling crack multiple times. Tr. 526:2-527:7. Edwards testified clearly that he only previously sold crack—he was not selling drugs at the time of the shooting.<sup>4</sup> Tr. 526:2-4. At the start of its closing, the state emphasized, "He said he himself was a crack dealer. . . . He's a crack dealer." Tr. 667:15-24. It also baselessly speculated about a motive that Edwards "takes issue with Michael Booker talking to another crack dealer," and that's why this fight started. Tr. 667:21-25.

After the trial court entered a directed verdict on behalf of Edwards on the stolen weapon charge, the solicitor agreed he would "not mention that [the gun] was stolen." Tr. 657:4-658:17. Nonetheless, the solicitor repeated in closing that Edwards used "a weapon that turns out was stolen out of Richland County," Tr. 679:7-13, and used a PowerPoint repeating this purported fact to directly argue "to the jury that Mr. Edwards failed in his self-defense claim" in part because he "shot the decedent with a stolen pistol," Motion for New Trial and Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence, at 2, R. p. \*.

The trial court charged the jury on murder, the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter, and self-defense. Tr. 747:23-753:19. On the failure to stop charge, the trial court instructed the jury:

The last charge is failure to stop for a blue light. So in order to prove this crime, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was driving a motor vehicle on a road,

---

<sup>4</sup> Although not clearly articulated before the jury, based on the solicitor's statements at sentencing it seems Edwards's history of selling drugs was *years* prior to these events. Tr. 782:9-11.

street, or highway of the state, that he was signaled to stop by law enforcement by means of a siren or a flashing light, and that he did not stop.

...

An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in some other manner avoid pursuing law enforcement when signaled by a siren or flashing light may be considered by you as evidence of failure to stop for a blue light. However, it is merely an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, along with all the other evidence in the case, and to be given the weight you decide it should receive.

Tr. 755:23-756:19.

The jury began deliberating at 12:59 p.m. Tr. 762:2. During its deliberations, the jury asked several questions, including for a written copy of the jury instructions. Tr. 762:16-25; Court's Ex. 14-15 R. p. \*. It also asked to re-hear the testimony of both Edwards and Yarborough. Tr. 763:12-15; Court's Exhibit 15A, R. p. \*. The jury retired for the night at 7:10 p.m. and resumed deliberating at 9:30 a.m. the following morning. Tr. 769:16-770:14. The next morning the jury requested to re-hear the testimony of John Wannamaker, the neighbor. Tr. 770:17-20; Court's Ex. 18. It finished deliberating at 12:16 p.m. that afternoon. Tr. 771:21-24.

The jury found Edwards guilty of voluntary manslaughter, possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence, and failing to stop for a blue light. Tr. 772:15-773:3. The trial court sentenced him to thirty years in prison for manslaughter and five years each for the weapon and failure to stop charges, all to run consecutively. Tr. 792:8-15.

Following sentencing, Edwards filed a Motion for a New Trial and Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence. R. p. \*. The trial court denied the motion by written order dated May 8, 2024. R. p. \*.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In general, "[t]he admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 640, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001)). Interpretation and application of constitutional provisions are questions of law reviewed de novo on appeal. *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 153, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011).

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The trial court erred under Rule 404, SCRE, by allowing testimony Edwards previously sold crack cocaine years before the shooting.**

The trial court allowed the state to extensively cross-examine Edwards about the fact he previously sold crack cocaine. Its clear purpose was to make Edwards look like a violent drug dealer and a bad person whose self-defense claim should be rejected because of his criminal disposition. The trial court erred by overruling Edwards's objection because "Rule 404(b) prevents the State from introducing evidence of a defendant's other crimes for the purpose of proving his propensity to commit the crime for which he is currently on trial." *State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020).

Evidence Edwards previously sold crack cocaine is evidence "of other crimes, wrongs or acts" within the scope of Rule 404(b). Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.

Rule 404(b), SCRE; *see generally State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). There is no evidence this was a "common scheme or plan," no question of Edwards's identity as the shooter, and no suggestion he fired on accident or unintentionally.<sup>5</sup> Edwards was on trial for murder and other alleged crimes following the death of Booker, and he testified he acted in self-defense out of fear for his life. The only possible acceptable use for the evidence under Rule 404(b) was to

---

<sup>5</sup> In his opening statement Edwards made clear what this case is about. The very first statement he made to the jury admitted to the shooting: "Craig Edwards shot and killed Michael Booker, but he's not guilty of murder. This was self-defense. Craig was afraid for his life. He thought Mike was about to kill him." Tr. 135:23-136:1.

demonstrate motive in order to defeat that defense. But not only did the state not actually use the evidence in this way, it could not have done so because Edwards's prior drug dealing is not "clearly . . . connect[ed]" to the shooting—there is no logical connection between the two. *State v. Brooks*, 341 S.C. 57, 61, 533 S.E.2d 325, 327 (2000) (quoting *Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807).

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