RECEIVED

Nov 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000821

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CRAIG LAMAR EDWARDS,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

1701 Main St.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

II. NCIC records are admissible as business and public records, and Edwards was not prejudiced by the admission of data showing the handgun he possessed was stolen because he was on trial for possession of a stolen handgun but a directed verdict was later granted as to that charge.

Edwards claims the trial court erroneously admitted data from an NCIC (National Crime Information Center) report showing the gun Edwards used to shoot Booker had been reported stolen. NCIC records are admissible under the business and public records exceptions to the rule against hearsay, but this Court need not reach the merits of the issue because Edwards cannot show prejudice. Evidence of the stolen pistol was not used to convict Edwards of manslaughter; it was admitted to prove Edwards possessed a stolen handgun. The trial court granted a directed verdict as to that charge at the close of the State's case, eliminating any possible prejudice. Edwards attempts to show prejudice by arguing the solicitor made an improper closing argument, but he did not object to the argument. Regardless, the solicitor's passing comments about the fact that the gun was stolen did not reasonably affect the result of trial. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Barksdale, 433 S.C. 324, 330, 857 S.E.2d 557, 560 (Ct. App. 2021). The decision to admit or exclude evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Id.

B. Discussion.

This issue arose when the officer who recovered Edwards's gun testified he had to "run the weapon to make sure it's not stolen." Tr.p.305. At this point in the

trial, Edwards was charged with possession of a stolen pistol. The trial court later granted a directed verdict on that charge, ruling the State did not present evidence Edwards knew the gun was stolen. Tr.p.415–16. Edwards objected on hearsay and confrontation grounds, and the trial court overruled the objection. Tr.p.305. The officer then testified he “ran the weapon through NCIC” and the gun had been “reported stolen by the Richland County Sheriff’s Department.”³

i. NCIC records are admissible under the hearsay exception for business and public records.

The National Crime Information Center is “a national criminal records data system administered by the Federal Bureau of Investigation” containing “criminal history information, including outstanding arrest warrants, and is available to police departments nationwide.” Case v. Kitsap Cnty. Sheriff’s Dep’t, 249 F.3d 921, 923 (9th Cir. 2001). The federal government is required by law to maintain these records, and law enforcement agencies and courts routinely rely on them. See 28 U.S.C. § 534; Frye v. Commonwealth, 231 Va. 370, 387, 345 S.E.2d 267, 280 (1986) (explaining “records of the NCIC are routinely used and relied on by the Virginia State Police in the regular course of business”). Indeed, the trial court relied on NCIC records during this very trial to determine whether Edwards had prior convictions which were proper for impeachment. Tr.p.425–26.

³ In Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Priv. Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 72, 773 S.E.2d 607, 614 (Ct. App. 2015), this Court held “Rule 803(6) does not apply to admit live testimony offered to prove the contents of a record containing hearsay when that record is not offered in evidence.” However, Edwards does not advance that argument on appeal and has therefore waived the argument.

While NCIC records are hearsay, they are admissible as business records pursuant to Rule 803(6), SCRE, which provides:

Records of Regularly Conducted Activity. A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness; provided, however, that subjective opinions and judgments found in business records are not admissible. The term "business" as used in this subsection includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit.

See also S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510 (Business Records as Evidence Act, precursor to Rule 803(6)). NCIC records are also admissible under the public records exception.

See Rule 803(8), SCRE. While an NCIC record may not in itself be enough to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt of possession crimes, the business records exception is concerned with whether the records are sufficiently reliable for admission as evidence in a criminal trial where the person who observed the underlying occurrence does not personally testify. Because NCIC records are kept in the regular course of business as required by law, they are presumptively reliable and admissible under the business and public records exceptions to the rule against hearsay.

While this Court has not addressed in a published opinion whether NCIC records are admissible under Rule 803(6), out-of-state courts have held that they are. State v. Sneed, 210 N.C. App. 622, 629, 709 S.E.2d 455, 460 (2011) (officer

testimony that NCIC records showed gun was reported stolen was admissible as business record); Cooper v. Commonwealth, 54 Va. App. 558, 571, 680 S.E.2d 361, 367 (2009) (same). This Court conducted a comparable analysis in State v. Mealor, 425 S.C. 625, 825 S.E.2d 53 (Ct. App. 2019), which involved a privately-owned database of pharmacy records of pseudoephedrine product sales. And in State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 127, 687 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2009), the supreme court explained that fingerprint records from the AFIS fingerprint database qualified as both business and public records. See also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 352, 751 S.E.2d 645, 660 (2013) (police chain of custody logs were business records).

Edwards argues that even if NCIC reports could qualify as business records under Rule 803, the State failed to lay an adequate foundation. Edwards's trial objection was not sufficient to bring this specific argument to the trial court's attention, and therefore this argument is not preserved for review. State v. Holliday, 333 S.C. 332, 338, 509 S.E.2d 280, 283 (Ct. App. 1998) ("The objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge."); Rule 103, SCRE (providing objection must be on "specific ground" unless ground was "apparent from the context"). Issue preservation rules are designed to "give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule." State v. Morales, 439 S.C. 600, 609, 889 S.E.2d 551, 556 (2023). "A trial court's opportunity to rule necessarily includes both parties being aware of the nature of the objection such that they may present their best

arguments addressing that objection. This then serves another purpose of our rules—‘meaningful appellate review.’” Id. (emphasis added).

There is no discussion of the business records exception in the trial transcript and no indication the trial court ever considered whether the State laid a sufficient foundation under Rule 803(6). Had Edwards specifically objected, the State could have easily laid a firmer foundation by simply asking the officer to explain the NCIC recordkeeping system. See United States v. Keplinger, 776 F.2d 678, 694 (7th Cir. 1985) (explaining under Rule 803, “a ‘qualified witness’ need only be someone with knowledge of the procedures governing the creation and maintenance of the type of records sought to be admitted”); see also Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Priv. Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 73, 773 S.E.2d 607, 615 (Ct. App. 2015). Because NCIC records are so frequently relied on in our court system—in practically every criminal prosecution—the trial court would not have assumed Edwards was objecting on the basis of insufficient foundation. Because the record does not demonstrate the trial court ruled on this specific ground, the issue is not preserved.

Even if preserved, the officer’s testimony was sufficient to lay a foundation in this case. Because the trial court undoubtedly was familiar with NCIC records, there was little need—particularly in the absence of a specific objection—for the officer to go into great detail. This is unlike those cases where a custodian was needed to explain the recordkeeping system of an organization about which the court had no prior knowledge.

In Sneed, the North Carolina Court of Appeals held similar officer testimony was sufficient to lay a foundation for NCIC data. There, as here, the officer “described the NCIC database as entries from law enforcement officers used by law enforcement to trace stolen property” and “stated that he ran the serial number of the gun through the NCIC database and found that the gun with that serial number had been reported stolen.” State v. Sneed, 210 N.C. App. 622, 630, 709 S.E.2d 455, 461 (2011). The court explained that while the officer “did not explicitly state that the records were kept in the ordinary course of business, defendant does not dispute that the testimony of Detective Rhodes, if he were a qualified witness, was adequate to support that inference.” Id. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing the testimony.

ii. Edwards cannot show prejudice.

This Court need not decide whether NCIC records are admissible under the business records exception because Edwards cannot show prejudice. The testimony that the pistol was stolen was proof only that Edwards possessed a stolen pistol. The trial court later granted a directed verdict as to that charge, eliminating any prejudice.

Edwards argues he was prejudiced because the solicitor in closing referenced the fact that he possessed a stolen handgun. Edwards claims the solicitor improperly used the evidence of the stolen handgun to argue Edwards was not “without fault” in bringing on the difficulty. Brief of Appellant at 18. This argument fails for two reasons. First, the issue is not preserved. Edwards did not contemporaneously object to the solicitor’s closing argument and has therefore

waived any objection thereto. See State v. Varvil, 338 S.C. 335, 339, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct. App. 2000) (“Failure to object to comments made during argument precludes appellate review of the issue.”). Had Edwards objected, the trial court could have addressed the alleged improper comment with a curative instruction.

Second, the solicitor did not argue Edwards was precluded from claiming self-defense merely because the pistol was stolen. The solicitor mentioned the stolen gun twice. The first was a passing comment that the pistol which Edwards threw from his car “turns out was stolen out of Richland County” Tr.p.679. This comment did not come when the solicitor was discussing the elements of self-defense or the testimony about what happened during the shooting itself. It came when the solicitor was covering the fact that Edwards fled from police and discarded the weapon. Tr.p.678–79. The second mention did come when the solicitor was discussing self-defense, but the solicitor did not “directly argue” Edwards was precluded from acting in self-defense merely because the pistol was stolen. Brief of Appellant at 16. The solicitor argued Edwards “showed up to [the incident location] with an illegally-possessioned pistol to confront Michael Booker.” Tr.p.687. The purpose of this comment was to emphasize that Edwards initiated the confrontation, not the fact that the pistol was stolen. The solicitor’s argument as a whole was focused on the unbelievability of Edwards’s testimony and the facts which showed he was not in imminent danger when he shot Booker. The solicitor did not “directly argue” Edwards’s possession of a stolen gun precluded his self-

defense claim and there is not a reasonable probability the mere mention of this fact influenced the verdict.

Evidence that the pistol was stolen—a fact which Edwards has never disputed—was properly admitted as proof of a crime for which Edwards was on trial. Because a directed verdict was later granted as to that charge, Edwards was not prejudiced by the NCIC evidence even if it was improperly admitted. The solicitor's passing comments in closing mentioning the stolen gun—comments to which Edwards did not object, thereby waiving the issue—did not reasonably affect the result of trial. This Court should affirm.

III. Edwards waived any challenge to the trial court's Failure to Stop for a Blue Light instruction by failing to object, and he was not prejudiced by the instruction because he was admittedly and obviously guilty of that offense.

Edwards argues the trial court erroneously commented on the facts in its jury instruction on failure to stop for a blue light. However, Edwards did not object to the charge and therefore this issue is not preserved for review. Further, Edwards cannot show prejudice because he conceded in closing that he was guilty of the offense. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion. State v. Lemire, 406 S.C. 558, 565, 753 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2013).

Discussion.

Edwards claims the trial court abused its discretion by instructing the jury as follows:

An attempt to increase the speed of a vehicle or in some other manner avoid pursuing law enforcement when signaled by a siren or flashing light may be considered by you as evidence of failure to stop for a blue light. However it is merely an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, along with all the other evidence in the case, and to be given the weight you decide it should receive.

Tr.p.756.

Edwards did not object to the charge, and accordingly this issue is not preserved for review. Edwards argues he was not required to object, citing a 1924 case which "[a]dmittedly . . . has not been utilized since," wherein the court excused the defendant's failure to object to the trial court's misstatement to the jury about

the facts of the case. Brief of Appellant at 20, citing State v. Orr, 128 S.C. 279, 122 S.E.2d 771 (1924). Not only is this not the law, and not only has this Court nor the supreme court ever cited Orr for this proposition, neither court has cited Orr at all, except the supreme court in its opinion affirming Orr's conviction on retrial. A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve a claim of error in a trial court's jury charge, even when the objection is on constitutional grounds. State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 255, 737 S.E.2d 473, 475 (2012) (holding claim that jury charge unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof was not preserved for appeal because "[i]t is axiomatic that an objection to a jury charge may not be raised for the first time on appeal") (emphasis added); State v. Lemire, 406 S.C. 558, 573, 753 S.E.2d 247, 255 (Ct. App. 2013) ("As to Lemire's arguments that the charge was redundant, confusing, and tantamount to a charge on the facts, these concerns were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court and are therefore not preserved for appeal.") (emphasis added).

Further, it is hard to fathom how Edwards could have been prejudiced by the court's instructions when his conduct was captured on video and he admitted he was guilty of failure to stop. By Edwards's own admission, he "didn't stop for them at all" and "just took off." Tr.p.513. He did not offer any defense of his actions. As counsel admitted in closing, "We saw the chase. We saw that. That happened. Craig does not deny that's him driving the car, that he did not stop for police." Tr.p.718. Even more explicitly, defense counsel conceded Edwards was guilty of failure to stop: "He did not stop for the cops. We are not disputing that. I'll make it

easy for you. Find him guilty of failure to stop for a blue light because he didn't.”
Tr.p.728. Because Edwards was admittedly and obviously guilty, the charge could not reasonably have affected the outcome. See State v. Workman, 443 S.C. 369, 378, 905 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2024). And even if his guilt was contested, that increasing speed is evidence of failure to stop is a truism and harmless. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.